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Brett Kandt, representing the Attorney General; Executive Director, 
Advisory Council for Prosecuting Attorneys, Reno, Nevada  
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Nevada 

 
Chair Koivisto: 
[Roll was taken.]  We will start this afternoon with Assembly Bill 293. 
 
Assembly Bill 293:  Makes various changes concerning appointments by the 

Governor to certain offices within the Executive Branch of State 
Government. (BDR 18-761) 

 
Assemblyman Bernie Anderson, Washoe County Assembly District No. 31: 
[Read his explanation of the bill from prepared text (Exhibit C).  He also provided 
a handout of similar legislation on a state-by-state basis (Exhibit D).] 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
Are there any questions from the Committee? 
 
Assemblywoman Gansert: 
Why did you pick these six positions? 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
I did not.  They are carried over from a bill that was introduced in the Senate 
during an earlier legislative session, possibly in 2003.  I was looking for a limited 
list, because some positions are set constitutionally and would require a 
constitutional amendment.      
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer:  
If the Governor appoints a person to an office as is set forth in section 1, 
subsection 1, and the Legislative Committee on Appointments rejects that 
appointment, the language states that the Governor may not appoint that 
person to any office or position for at least a year.  Are you saying if we do not 
agree with the Governor the position would be left vacant for a year? 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
It means that the Governor would have to appoint someone else to that 
position.  He just could not put that person into another position for a year. 
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer:  
Maybe we should think about changing the language so that the Commission 
must reject the person.  What happens if the Governor makes a choice, but the 
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Legislative Commission decides not to meet within that 90-day period?  It would 
be like a "pocket veto."  Maybe that should be reversed so the Commission 
must actually have to say "no."  What are your thoughts on that concept? 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
If the Commission had not met during that 90-day period, that would be a 
concern to me.  It is anticipated that the Commission would do the right thing.  
If they have not met, it seems to me that they automatically utilized that pocket 
veto, which is always, as you correctly pointed out, an option.  I would think 
that they would meet, regardless.  If you think about the appointing process, 
generally speaking, the Governor is going to be appointing several people at the 
beginning of the process.  I would anticipate that they are going to be looking at 
all these new people being appointed at one time, probably at one meeting for 
the vast majority of them.  Ninety days is not an unheard-of time frame, as I 
think about how the Legislative Commission operates.  That was one of the 
ideas that I rejected:  we could have sent it directly to the Legislative 
Commission and given the duty to them. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
Are there any other questions from the Committee?  The way I read this, are 
there six members on this committee? 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
There would be seven members on the committee:  two from the majority of 
both Houses and one from each of the minorities.  The seventh member would 
be the chair of the Senate Legislative Operations and Elections Committee.  
That individual would be a member of the committee and have the responsibility 
of calling it to order and keeping the dialogue going.  The only time the chair 
would have the opportunity to vote would be to break a tie. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
So, getting a committee of seven people together for a meeting should not 
present a great difficulty. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
I was trying to keep it large enough to include all of the party members so that 
neither side prevailed, and yet be the smallest body that would be possible. 
 
Assemblyman Segerblom:  
What happens if the Assembly is half Democrats and half Republicans? 
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Assemblyman Anderson: 
I have been through that, and it is not outside the realm of possibility.  Having 
lived through it one time, I hope that it never happens again.  I do not want to 
think about it, but you get to. 
 
Assemblyman Hambrick:  
There is other legislation pending that deals with interim committees after an 
election cycle if someone is not reelected.  Do you have a provision for 
readjusting this commission's membership? 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
There is a possibility that could happen.  The only committee that currently 
happens with is the Ways and Means Committee.  It carries on the tradition of 
letting people serve until the very beginning of the session.  It is not unusual for 
committees to not have finished their work and to continue their hearings, but 
they cannot make recommendations.  I would think that it would still be 
possible for this particular committee to carry on its work. 
 
The advantages of this committee are that it increases legislative involvement 
and provides a public forum.  Those two things are critical and what I am most 
concerned about.   
 
Chair Koivisto: 
No one else is signed up to testify on this bill, but is there anyone who wishes 
to provide public testimony on this legislation? 
 
Richard Siegel, Private Citizen, Reno, Nevada: 
I am testifying in my capacity as professor emeritus of political science at the 
University of Nevada, Reno, and in no other capacity.  I am in favor of the 
proposal.  What I particularly like about it is that we give the public, as well as 
the legislators, an opportunity to comment on the priorities of the department or 
the division that we are assigning the person to.  In Nevada, sometimes the 
appointees to departments or divisions are not well known to the public.   
A process like this will make them better known to the public.  If you look at 
congressional hearings, they raise the most important issues that are before that 
department or division.  You just saw that with the Attorney General and a 
variety of the key departments of government.  We sometimes appoint people 
and start them off in these critical jobs without any kind of opportunity for 
either the press or the public to really focus in on what might change or what 
should change.   If you follow what Congress does, they actually do influence 
what happens because legislators draw out commitments from appointees 
about the kinds of policies and directions they might take.  I think it would be 
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healthy for the State of Nevada.  I also like the idea that we are starting with a 
small number of offices.  That number can build later. 
 
Assemblyman Munford:  
Will the public have much input on these hearings that determine who will get 
these positions?  Public input might have a strong influence on the members of 
that board or it might even be political.  My constituent could promote an 
individual who might not be the best qualified, but my constituent could affect 
my vote. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
Because of the contentious nature of the society in which we live, there is 
always an inherent danger that someone will come forward with a personal 
problem.  However, in reality, we all face that issue on a day-to-day basis here.  
We are elected to do the right thing for the state and not for our individual 
constituency, although we also want to do the right thing for them.  In addition, 
we hope our choices reflect both their well-being and the state's well-being 
simultaneously. 
 
Assemblywoman Gansert:  
I have an issue with an automatic rejection.  It would be an automatic rejection 
if the appointment is not confirmed within 90 days.  I believe it should be the 
opposite situation:  If the Commission has not taken action within 90 days to 
reject the appointment, the appointment should be accepted. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
I want the Governor to be concerned that we are actually going to look over his 
shoulder and that there will be a public scrutiny of what takes place here.  It 
puts the onus on the Legislature to be responsible and do its due diligence as a 
representative Body of the people.  The 90-day question puts an onus on the 
Governor and on the Legislative Body to respond in a timely fashion, because 
otherwise, we would be open to criticism by the public for not doing our job. 
 
Assemblywoman Gansert:  
The person would accept the appointment, but then in 90 days could be 
rejected.  I believe some sort of legislative process should occur before the 
appointment or during the appointment process. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
I thought about that, but it seemed to me that we want the Governor's 
appointee to take office right away so the department continues to function and 
carry out its necessary role.  The question is one of public involvement, the 
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opportunity for the public forum, and to bridge the gap that has to exist 
between the Legislative Branch and the Executive Branch.  Many times there are 
legislative actions that have not been carried forward by various departments of 
government at the executive level.  This reminds appointees that they would be 
working for the people, both the Executive Branch and the Legislative Branch.   
 
Assemblywoman Gansert:  
Many times when there is an opening in a department or division, an interim 
person will substitute for a while until there is an appointment.  A lot of times 
within a department there is someone who is qualified, and that person could 
step in until this process could be completed. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
That would probably take care of it.  We are talking about the appointment.  
You could take care of that contingency by giving them the opportunity for an 
interim appointment, and then the Governor's appointee would take over.  I did 
not want to limit the Governor's ability to put someone in place as quickly as he 
could to fill the necessary role of the Executive Branch. 
 
Assemblywoman Gansert:  
I understand.  My concern would be to have someone appointed who eventually 
is either directly rejected or rejected because no action is taken versus having 
someone in the interim, and to make it an up-front process. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
Are there any other questions from the Committee?  I think this legislation 
clarifies that there are three separate but equal branches of government.   
I appreciate that you have brought this bill forward, Mr. Anderson.  Now, I am 
going to bring this bill back to Committee and close the hearing. 
 
We will open the hearing on Assembly Bill 190. 
  
Assembly Bill 190:  Establishes a moratorium on the execution of sentences of 

death and provides for a study of issues regarding the death penalty. 
(BDR S-764) 

  
Assemblyman Bernie Anderson, Washoe County Assembly District No. 31: 
[Read an explanation of the bill from prepared text (Exhibit E).  Mr. Anderson 
also provided handouts to Committee members containing additional information 
(Exhibit F).] 
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Chair Koivisto: 
For you who are here waiting to testify, supporters of the legislation will speak 
first and then those in opposition will be called forward to speak.   
 
Michael Pescetta, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am an attorney and I practice exclusively in capital cases.  I would like to make 
it clear at the outset that I am here representing only myself and not as an 
employee of the Federal Public Defender or a representative of the Federal 
Public Defender's views.   
 
Our state is unique in a lot of ways, but I do not think Nevada is unique with 
respect to the issue that Assemblyman Anderson is talking about in terms of the 
cost of the death penalty.  I have submitted a handout that has some of the 
recent studies on this topic (Exhibit G).  Some of the studies include very high 
estimates of the actual cost to prosecute death penalty cases compared to  
non-death-penalty murder cases.  After a study is conducted, I do not think 
Nevada is going to turn out to be much different.  I think all the studies are 
unanimous in saying that it costs more to prosecute death penalty cases, 
whether it is the additional $900,000 per case that the Iowa study found, or 
whether it is three times the cost of non-capital cases that The Dallas Morning 
News study in Texas in 1992 found.   
 
The minute the case becomes a death penalty case, the meter is running in just 
about every phase of the prosecution.  More lawyers must be assigned to the 
case on both the prosecution and the defense sides.  There is an automatic 
appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court.  There is mandatory appointment of 
counsel in the first habeas corpus proceeding and in the appeal from that 
judgment to the Nevada Supreme Court.  Even when the normal state litigation 
is completed, the case goes to federal court if it is a capital case, and 
appointment of counsel is mandatory under the federal habeas corpus statute.  
Although those costs of litigation in terms of court time, in terms of  
defense-lawyer time, are paid by the federal government, Nevadans pay federal 
taxes too and, thus, are tangentially paying for that litigation.  They are directly 
paying for the salaries of the Nevada Attorneys General who appear in those 
cases in federal court. 
 
It has been said that we have a criminal justice system anyway, so we would 
have that infrastructure whether or not those individuals were prosecuted as 
capital cases or non-capital cases.  As others will discuss, the nature of capital 
cases is different from the nature of ordinary murder cases because of the 
amount of effort that has to be devoted to them.  The more of those capital 
cases you have, the more resources in time and energy of the participants are 
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devoted to them.  For instance, I have a capital case which, after many years of 
litigation, was reversed in the federal courts and sent back to the Nevada courts 
for a new penalty hearing.  That case would normally be assigned to the Special 
Public Defender's Office in Las Vegas.  But the Special Public Defender's Office 
now has 20 pending capital cases, so that case will probably have to be given 
to directly-appointed counsel, which means that the county will be paying for 
two counsel to represent that individual because the system is overloaded.  
Those capital cases do put a huge burden on the system as a whole.   
 
What do we get for that?  What is this money buying us?  The modern death 
penalty statute has been in effect since 1977.  By my calculation, during that 
time 143 people have been placed on Nevada's death row.  There are currently 
81 people on Nevada's death row.  After 32 years of litigation under the 
statute, we have managed to execute, involuntarily, one person.  Unfortunately, 
that was one of my clients.  I do not minimize the effect on individuals who 
participate in the system as a result of that execution, but it does not seem to 
me to be cost-effective to say that we need to spend what is likely to be 
between two and three times the cost of a regular murder case to have a 
system that has produced those kinds of results in 32 years of operation. 
 
There are currently about 1,000 people in Nevada prisons for murder.  This 
proposed study will confirm, I believe, that the cost of weeding those 81 people 
out of the other 1,000 people who are in Nevada prisons for murder is simply 
not a cost-effective way to do business.  One of the subjects I think will be 
looked at in the study will be how the system works—charging decisions and 
prosecution practices as well as defense practices.  The 81 people currently on 
death row are typical of the composition of Nevada's death row historically in 
that a majority of them are minorities.  Despite the relatively modest population 
of African Americans in Nevada, African Americans comprise 40 percent of 
Nevada's death row, and have over the past 20 years.  Whether that is a 
function of allocation of resources, whether it is a function of a differential in 
terms of prosecutorial resources between rural counties and urban counties, is 
not something that at this stage of our knowledge we can really determine.  But 
those are the facts we deal with in the course of litigating these cases every 
day. 
 
By the time a capital case gets in the federal system, we are litigating 
procedural issues almost exclusively.  I think this study will demonstrate that 
maintaining the kind of procedural complexity that we have in Nevada, 
procedural default issues in particular, is not only not cost-effective, but is 
aggressively cost-ineffective.  I very much support the study which  
Mr. Anderson and his committee previously suggested. I would part company 
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with my friend by saying that I am an unabashed and unashamed abolitionist.   
I think that the time to consider making this moratorium apply to the imposition 
of capital sentences, as well as the execution of them, is something that this 
Body should take seriously.  The time to stop throwing good money after bad in 
this system is now.  I think a moratorium now would at least prevent the 
expenditure of further resources on a system that, to my mind, has no deterrent 
effect whatsoever, as the continuing rate of homicides in Nevada and the very 
modest return in terms of executions suggest is currently the case. 
 
Assemblyman Horne: 
Do you have an estimate concerning where the majority of these costs lie?  Is it 
in the prosecution, the automatic appeal, the habeas corpus, or the subsequent 
appeals after habeas corpus?  Where is the bulk of that cost? 
 
Michael Pescetta: 
We have a very hard time estimating that.  In the federal system, there is a 
significantly greater expenditure in capital cases because an inmate in a  
non-capital murder case typically does not get appointment of counsel.  
Normally, the litigation of a federal habeas corpus in that situation is fairly 
quick.  In capital cases, appointment of counsel is mandatory under federal law, 
and the complications that go with habeas corpus litigation take up an 
enormous amount of time.  I have another case in which the penalty was 
reversed in an order not yet final in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, and my 
estimate is that, in the last ten years, all of the litigation in that case has been 
devoted to procedural issues and almost nothing to the merits of the case.  That 
is largely because the stakes are so high in capital cases.  You cannot waive 
anything, and you have to continue to litigate despite, and try to overcome, 
procedural bars that are enacted by state law when you get into federal court.  
The complications of the system are substantial.  Costs on the other end begin 
with the kind of investigation and litigation that the defense has to conduct.  I 
think it is less for the prosecution, but the amount of money and resources that 
has to be spent at the outset is enormously greater than in a regular murder 
case. 
 
Assemblyman Segerblom:  
I assume all timelines would be on hold while this study goes on? 
 
Michael Pescetta: 
As I understand this bill, it is a moratorium exclusively on executions, so 
everything else will proceed as it has been.  The only effect of the moratorium 
provision will be to prohibit the actual execution of the penalty until the 
expiration of this bill in two years. 
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Assemblyman Anderson: 
I asked for the bill to be drafted to that narrower topic; however, I believe that 
you are going to hear from others that it should be broadened.  I felt that was a 
fair discussion for this Committee and, thus, asked for the narrowest point, 
which was the execution itself.   
 
Assemblyman Segerblom:  
Are any of these deadlines federal?  Can we waive federal deadlines? 
 
Michael Pescetta: 
No.  This legislation cannot make anything happen in federal court that would 
not happen anyway.  The statute of limitations in federal court will continue to 
run in cases where there is no federal proceeding pending.  This would not have 
any effect on the actual litigations of the cases.  The moratorium provision 
preventing execution would prevent only the costs associated with the 
execution itself.  I understand the Department of Corrections is seeking money 
for a new execution chamber.  It might affect that.  There are some costs 
associated with an execution itself such as contractual costs involved in getting 
someone to actually perform the vein puncture for the execution.  In the 
Department of Corrections' protocol, counselors are made available to the 
people who actually have to perform the execution.  Those costs are relatively 
modest compared to the litigation costs. 
 
Assemblyman Hambrick:  
As I understand it, the next scheduled execution date is a little over two years 
away.  I do not know how long you estimate the study will last, but what 
benefit, pro or con, do you see in terminating execution of the death penalty 
until after the study?  Do you anticipate the study lasting longer than two or 
two and a half years? 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
The timeline is until January 31, 2011, which is just before the start of the 
session; however, it really extends until July of 2011 so that the Legislature will 
have an opportunity to absorb the study.  The study would cover the next  
two years.  At the time, we had no way of knowing if someone would fall 
within the cycle.  What we are looking for is a two-year study and then an 
opportunity for the Legislature to make a determination during the 2011 Session 
as to whether the conclusions concerning the cost factors, along with the 
previous study that has already been done on this, indicate that it may be time, 
and many of us hope for that, to do away with the death penalty in the  
State of Nevada. 
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Assemblyman Munford: 
How many automatic appeals is a person who has been given the death 
sentence allowed? 
 
Michael Pescetta: 
From the conviction and sentence, there is a direct appeal to the Nevada 
Supreme Court which hears the appeal en banc, which means the entire Court.  
After that, there is the opportunity to file a state petition for writ of habeas 
corpus in the district court.  If the inmate loses in district court, there is the 
availability of an appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court once again.  At that 
point, there is the opportunity to file a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in 
federal district court.  At that point, if the inmate loses, there is an appeal to the 
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and from there, by petition for certiorari, to the 
United States Supreme Court.  Typically, however, because of the procedural 
complications in these cases, after a case goes to federal court for the initial 
proceedings in the habeas corpus, the case often comes back to state court for 
further proceedings for what is called "exhaustion of state remedies," because a 
federal court cannot pass on any constitutional claims unless they have already 
been presented to the state court system. 
 
It is conceivable that in the study it could be recommended that the provisions 
for state habeas corpus proceedings in capital cases be eliminated, since all 
those cases are going to end up having habeas corpus proceedings in federal 
court.  But, what happens in federal court is something over which the state 
system has no control whatsoever. 
 
Assemblyman Munford: 
This could almost be the biggest expense. 
 
Michael Pescetta: 
It is very hard to say what the biggest expense is.  In terms of the immediate 
expense, it is at the beginning of the case when the actual pretrial preparation 
happens.  Much of that expense is wasted completely if the case negotiates 
before trial, or if it goes forward to trial and the jury imposes a sentence less 
than death.   
 
Assemblyman Cobb: 
I appreciate your admission that your opposition to the death penalty is  
morally-based and not fiscally-based and that this is your vehicle for achieving 
that goal of a prohibition.  My question has to do with the bill itself.  There is no 
discussion whatsoever in this bill about the cost savings of having the death 
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penalty on the books; only the costs.  If we already know the costs, which have 
been testified to, why do we need a study, let alone a prohibition? 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
We recommended this Body do an in-depth study of the fiscal question because 
a full, in-depth study necessary to answer that had not been done.  This 
particular study asks for the analysis to be done by the Audit Division of the 
Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB).  That report would be presented to you, the 
Legislature, so you could make a timely decision with the necessary facts.  
While I appreciate the nuance of your question, this legislation is a carryover 
from an earlier study.  While Senator Neal and I had advocated for the outright 
abolishment of the death penalty in earlier legislation, a position that  
Senator Neal had long championed, the Senate's approach was to put the study 
in place and, thus, we conducted a study that dealt with racial issues and the 
adequacy of defense issues.  We have addressed some of those issues. 
 
Assemblyman Cobb: 
I understand that the main basis for the opposition is a moral basis and that this 
only deals with the fiscal aspects.  I also understand where you are coming 
from when you say you only studied bits and pieces here and there, and I know 
the ultimate goal is to have a permanent prohibition, as was testified to by both 
witnesses so far.  But, if we are going to have a truly unbiased study of the 
issue, do you not think we should include any cost savings of keeping the death 
penalty on the books and having it as a tool for use by the district attorneys' 
(DAs) offices? 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
Mr. Cobb, I really do not know how to answer you.  I am against the death 
penalty, which may be a surprise to people who know me well since a member 
of my family was murdered and a person was charged, with the death penalty, 
in California.  It had a very, very dramatic effect upon the entire family, as these 
kinds of horrendous cases do.  The reality of watching how the death penalty, 
or the death of a family member, tears apart a family is truly amazing.  Not 
being able to help is an amazing thing.  Believe it or not, it moved me from 
where I had been—a supporter of the death penalty—to being against it.  It was 
clear to me that the constant appeals reawakened that question for the family 
members.  They would go through this again and again, and as a group, the 
family members would write letters. 
 
The moral question has always been there for many, many people and I have 
studied the issue extensively.  It is clear that there is racial inequity.  There is 
also the difficulty of finding adequate defense, and finally, there is a cost to the 
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overall system.  All three of those need to be fully investigated.  I believe this 
Legislative Body will reach the same conclusion, objectively rather than 
emotionally, as the death penalty often brings an emotional response. 
 
Stephen Dahl, Private Citizen, North Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I have submitted two exhibits.  One is the Iowa Legislative Fiscal Bureau's 
review of the death penalty (Exhibit H).  It is an older study, but it is a lot 
shorter than many of the other studies, speaks in plain language, and is easy to 
understand.  I would direct the Committee's attention to page 3, down at the 
bottom, under "Budget Impact," which states:  
 

The fiscal note … compared cost estimates for a death penalty 
case with a Class A felony case in which the offender would 
receive life in prison without parole.  The total cost for the capital 
case from arrest through execution was estimated to be $2.4 
million.  The total cost for the Class A felony from arrest through 
natural death of the inmate in prison was estimated to be $1.5 
million.  The net effect is that the death penalty case would cost 
an estimated $900,000 more than a case resulting in life in prison.  
The prosecution and defense costs for the trial and appeals are 
significantly greater for a capital case than for a Class A felony 
case and exceed the savings from the shortened term of 
incarceration for the executed offender. 

 
In other words, there are no savings from having the death penalty on the 
books, according to this study and every study that I am aware of subsequent 
to that.  The savings that one might perceive in being able to execute people 
and have them spend less time in prison are outweighed by the other costs.  
This is not my conclusion; it is the conclusion of the Iowa study and the other 
studies that have examined the issue. 
 
Assemblyman Ohrenschall:  
Earlier, it was mentioned that there were 1,000 people in Nevada prisons for 
homicide, and that 81 are on death row.  Talking about diversion of resources 
to put on and prepare for the capital trial, let us say those 81 capital trials had 
not been put on.  In your estimation, would there have been fewer plea bargains 
of other crimes?  Could resources have been used to put other violent criminals 
behind bars? 
 
Michael Pescetta: 
If the District Attorney's Office or the Metropolitan Police Department had more 
money because they were not spending it on capital cases, they would be doing 
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something else with it, I am pretty sure.  To some extent, I think the perception 
is real that having a death penalty is a useful club for the prosecution to obtain 
a plea bargain to a lesser sentence, if life without possibility of parole can really 
be considered that much of a lesser sentence.  Removing that possibility, 
however, would not substantially change the dynamic.  It might, in fact, 
encourage more sentences of life without possibility of parole, but I do not think 
we can really have any kind of rational, numerical estimate of those effects 
without having a real study of the way our system works. 
 
Stephen Dahl: 
You can do numbers however you want.  It is my understanding that in states 
that do not have the death penalty, the plea rate is about the same as for the 
states that do have the death penalty.  That could be part of this study—to see 
if that is actually correct or not.  I do not think it has been shown that the 
presence of the death penalty has an appreciable impact on the number of guilty 
pleas that are made, as opposed to the number for those states that do not 
have that penalty. 
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer:  
I was just looking at this subject on different websites, and it actually says that 
pleas are four times more common in states that have a death penalty.  That 
was a study entitled "The Death Penalty and Plea Bargaining to Light 
Sentences."  As you are indicating, there are far more executions of individuals 
who volunteer.  If someone were to volunteer today, is it likely that individual 
would actually be executed in two years?  Once someone decides to volunteer, 
how long does that process take? 
 
Michael Pescetta: 
If there is a moratorium, of course volunteering would not be permitted, and the 
individual might change his mind, as volunteers sometimes do.  If an individual 
convinces the court, in which his case is pending in habeas corpus proceedings, 
that he is competent to decide to waive his appeals, and he wants to volunteer 
to be executed, he can be executed within a couple of months. 
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer:  
Has anyone in the State of Nevada volunteered as of now? 
 
Michael Pescetta: 
No one is currently in that position, but there is never any guarantee when 
someone will decide to do that. 
 



Assembly Committee on Elections, Procedures, Ethics, and Constitutional 
Amendments 
March 24, 2009 
Page 16 
 
Assemblyman Cobb: 
When you answered my question earlier, I do not think you understood what I 
was talking about.  When I say "cost savings of having the death penalty on the 
books," it is because you can charge and then plea down, and there is no cost 
of a trial because the death penalty would not be in use.  That is what I am 
talking about in terms of examining cost savings, which is not in this bill.  That 
is why I asked why we were examining only the costs as opposed to examining 
both sides of the issue with this bill.  Also, why do we need a moratorium on 
the death penalty to do a study? 
 
Stephen Dahl: 
I am going to try to answer that question, but would it be more appropriate for 
me to start my testimony and then go into that? 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
Let us go into your testimony, but first, I have a question from Mr. Horne. 
 
Assemblyman Horne: 
From my understanding, and having been a criminal defense attorney, the 
prosecutor is not supposed to charge a crime, if he does not have the facts and 
evidence to prove it and to use that as a tool to plead down.  Using the fact of 
having a death penalty on the books to get someone to plead to another crime 
would be unethical for any prosecutor in the first place. 
 
Stephen Dahl: 
Even though I am a Justice of the Peace in North Las Vegas, I am not here 
representing or speaking for the judiciary.  The judiciary takes no position on 
this bill.  I am here as an individual who happens to be a judge.  I have also 
served on the Supreme Court's Indigent Defense Commission since its 
inception.  And, again, I am not representing or speaking for that Commission, 
but the testimony I am giving today is in-line with what I have been saying 
almost since the start of that Commission, which is, regardless of your feelings 
about the death penalty, Nevada cannot afford it.   
 
I have been a judge for over 14 years, and for the 6 years before that, I was the 
team chief of the Clark County Office of the Public Defender's Capital Defense 
Unit.  I have prepared one other exhibit for the Committee, which is called "The 
Death Penalty in Nevada Since 1977" (Exhibit I).  In the early 1970s, the  
United States Supreme Court struck down all the death penalty laws in the 
United States.  Subsequently, in 1977, Nevada reinstated the death penalty 
with new legislation.  Since that time, there have been 143 defendants 
sentenced to death.  Of those 143 people, 37 were permanently removed from 
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death row due to legal action.  Twelve of the inmates on death row are 
currently not under sentence of death, because legal action has caused either 
new penalty hearings or changes in their sentences.  That number "12" should 
be reduced to "9" because 3 have been ordered removed from death row with 
life sentences.  Eleven inmates have died of natural causes.  Two committed 
suicide.  Eleven were volunteers—people who waived all of their appeals and 
just accepted the death penalty.  And of that number, there has been  
one involuntary execution since 1977.  So, in answer to Mr. Cobb's question, 
the moratorium for two years probably is not going to have much of an effect, 
because there has been only one involuntary execution.  No one who is fighting 
his execution is within two years of getting executed, so a moratorium will have 
little practical effect, at least as set forth in the bill.  There are currently  
69 death row inmates, all of whom, as far as I know, are currently appealing 
their cases either in state or federal court. 
   
As part of a cost analysis, if you are going to decide whether or not to study 
something, you want to know how it is working.  So far, we have had 41 death 
penalty cases that have reached the "finish line," and in only one of those cases 
has someone been executed.  In the other 40 cases, the defendant was taken 
off death row and given a life sentence, or had his conviction reversed, or 
something else happened.  That is what has happened so far in the State of 
Nevada.  I have discussed the Iowa study, and you have the handout on the 
other studies.  All the other studies are much longer than the Iowa study and go 
into much more depth.  You can see the results of those studies, and they all 
basically agree that there is much more expense involved in seeking the death 
penalty than in not seeking the death penalty.   
 
Death penalty cases cost more because the United States Supreme Court has 
said that death is different.  When the state seeks the death penalty, it kicks in 
a whole set of requirements and standards that do not exist in other cases and 
that have great impacts on the cost of the defense.  In most cases in the 
criminal justice system, there is a guilt phase.  You go to trial, someone is found 
guilty or not guilty, and then, depending on what happens, there is an appeal or 
something else.  In death penalty cases there are two phases.  There is a guilt 
phase and a possible penalty phase.  The penalty phase only occurs if the 
defendant is found guilty of first degree murder, but the preparation for the 
penalty phase has to be occurring together with the preparation for the guilt 
phase because if the defendant is found guilty, you do not get to wait  
six months before the penalty phase begins.  That starts within a few days or a 
week, so the entire investigation must be accomplished.   
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The penalty phase preparation is often more difficult, complex, time-consuming, 
and costly than the guilt phase preparation.  It must be completed by the time 
of trial; you cannot wait to see if the case is going to negotiate, or if your client 
is going to get sentenced to less than death, or be found "not guilty."  You have 
to be ready to go.  That is a problem, especially in Nevada, because while the 
murders are committed in Nevada, the life history for most of the defendants is 
not.  Most of them are not born and raised in Nevada.  When I was doing 
defense work, one of my wife's biggest complaints was all the traveling I had to 
do because you have to go back to where the person was from and conduct the 
investigation.  I spent substantial time in Mexico, and the current public 
defender went to Cuba, which needed State Department approval.   
 
The case law is pretty clear that in a death penalty case, the defense must 
investigate every aspect of a defendant's life that might reasonably be expected 
to provide mitigation of penalty and which might help to explain or counter the 
state's aggravated circumstances.  That means you essentially must write a 
biography of the defendant.  Like most biographies, you often have to start, not 
with the birth of the defendant, but with the defendant's family.  What makes a 
person the way he is?  You have to look from the moment of conception 
actually:  Did the mom smoke; did she drink; did she do drugs; was she abused; 
did something happen during the pregnancy that made it less than normal?  Was 
there some problem that could have affected the defendant after the defendant 
was born?  Was there abuse?  You have to talk to neighbors, family, and 
friends, and see if there were any problems.  You have to go through school 
records and look for any kind of psychological or physical problems, and you 
must do that for the whole life of the defendant so you can prepare and present 
any kind of mitigating circumstances that might exist. 
 
When I went to Mexico for a defendant, we found a school which was in a 
small village.  The school records were in 200 boxes stacked up against a wall 
of the school.  We spent three days going through 200 boxes of school records 
trying to find something.  That case negotiated, but if we had gone to trial, we 
would have brought up several people from that village to testify on behalf of 
the defendant.  We would not have done that on a regular murder case, but we 
had to do it because it was a death penalty case.   
 
The United States Supreme Court has not been shy about reversing cases 
where they find that there has been improper investigation.  Wiggins v. State 
was a 2003 case.  They reversed a 1989 death sentence because they found 
the defense had failed to conduct a proper investigation into the defendant's 
background.  Defense attorneys have to do this because if they do not do it the 
first time around, there is someone like Mr. Pescetta waiting over in the  
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Federal Public Defender's Office who will do it the second time around, and 
those cases get reversed.  There was a case recently in which I had the 
codefendant, not the shooter.  These two men came to Las Vegas and 
committed a murder at a convenience store.  I negotiated my client to a life 
sentence; the shooter would have taken a life sentence.  The prosecution 
sought and obtained a death sentence.  The case was litigated through the 
system for 15 years.  The shooter got a new penalty phase, and they gave him 
life.  He would have taken "life without" from day one, but, with all that work, 
he is still doing life without.   
 
Unlike most criminal cases in which there is one attorney for each side, death 
penalty cases require a team approach.  The United States Supreme Court, in 
Wiggins and other cases, said it pays attention to the American Bar 
Association's (ABA) standards.  In death penalty cases, the American Bar 
Association guidelines say that there need to be at least two specially qualified 
attorneys, one investigator, and one mitigation specialist, which includes 
someone with training to screen for mental or psychological problems.  In death 
penalty cases, you often do a lot more psychological and medical testing than 
you would in other kinds of cases, because you are looking for reasons to argue 
that your client should not be executed.  It is different from a life sentence.  
You are arguing to a jury, "Please, do not kill my client," and you are looking for 
any facts to support that request.   
 
It is difficult to estimate the costs because, for example, in penalty-phase 
preparation, the costs are incurred whether the person gets the death penalty or 
not.  You cannot just look at all those people on death row and say, that is 
what it cost to put them there, because that is not the answer.  The costs also 
include all the cases where the state sought the death penalty and either the 
state negotiated at the end, or the jury gave another sentence.  All the work 
that went into the penalty preparation is still a cost to the case. 
 
I have talked to the Clark County Public Defender's Office.  They are very 
reluctant to offer any kind of estimates, but they do say they think that 
approximately 13 percent of their budget is for death penalty cases.  They only 
get 15 to 20 new death penalty cases a year, but they get thousands of other 
cases, so it is a major expense for a small number of cases. 
 
One of the things the Indigent Defense Commission is looking at is what it is 
costing the system.  For years, we have had studies in Clark County that say 
that the individual attorneys in the Clark County Public Defender's Office are 
handling too many cases, individually, to meet American Bar Association 
standards.  That is a cost to the system that the death penalty creates, because 
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the nine or ten attorneys who are set aside to handle those cases could be 
doing other kinds of cases.  There is a special public defender's office in Clark 
County which was created specifically to handle conflicts in death penalty 
cases.  They now do other things such as family law work, but those are other 
expenses on the system. 
 
Assemblyman Cobb: 
I still would like an answer to my earlier question, but not quite as it was 
recharacterized by my colleague from the south.  I am not talking about when a 
prosecutor unethically charges without having proper evidence to charge for a 
capital offense, but about a situation in which he does have the evidence to 
charge for a capital offense.  The death penalty is on the books.  Did you not 
just tell us that you pled your client out to life in prison because the death 
penalty was on the books? 
 
Stephen Dahl: 
No, my experience is, if someone is going to plead, they are going to plead.  It 
does not matter if it is the death penalty or life without.  If they are inclined to 
take a plea bargain and avoid going to trial, they will.  I have had people with 
the death penalty hanging over their head, to whom the state offered life 
without, but they would not take it.  They went to trial and were sentenced to 
death, but the offer was there, and they refused it. 
 
It is hard to estimate how that would work.  I have talked to defendants who 
would rather have the death penalty because living on death row is nicer than 
living in the general population, and they are going to live there for a while 
anyway.  So it is hard to say.  I have had juries tell us after the trials were over, 
in which that they gave life without, that the reason they had not gone with the 
death penalty was because they thought life without was a more severe 
punishment than the death penalty.  I understand your question, but I do not 
know if there is a good answer to it because there are so many variables, and 
people think in different ways.  You are not always dealing with rational people 
when you are dealing with death penalty murder cases.  The defendants are not 
always what you would call rational, so it is difficult to say why they do what 
they do. 
 
Richard Siegel, President, American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada; Member, 

Advisory Commission on the Administration of Justice, Reno, Nevada: 
I think there is a good reason why the Advisory Commission on the 
Administration of Justice has gained such substantial respect from the  
Judiciary Committees in both Houses, and that is because it is a very  
well-balanced commission.  We have two judges, a prosecutor, and defense 
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attorneys, among others.  The Advisory Commission took up the issue of doing 
this kind of study and heard testimony.  They heard from Richard Dieter, head 
of the Death Penalty Information Center in Washington, D.C.  He summarized 
the state of the studies around the country and the fact that there were 
consistent cost savings of from $900,000 to about $3.4 million per case.  This 
was a consistent finding, but no such study has yet been done in Nevada. 
 
We also discussed what we could possibly do with savings such as that.  We 
discussed things like putting money into assistance for victims of crime.  
Colorado is now considering putting it into the investigation of violent crime and 
murder.  Richard Dieter mentioned that for every million dollars you save, you 
can hire 40 more policemen.  Having heard the testimony from Mr. Dieter and 
having understood the issue reasonably well, the Commission voted ten to three 
with one abstention to support the study as described in A.B. 190.  We had 
opposition from two people on the prosecution side of the Commission; we had 
the support of both judges.  The Commission pays a tremendous amount of 
attention to the two judges who sit on the Commission, and they both 
supported the study. 
 
I want to comment on the moratorium.  For many years, I have been writing a 
study of the death penalty in the world.  Essentially, every country, including 
Britain and France, that did a major study of the death penalty, looking at the 
possibility of abolition, some kind of moratorium.  No one wants to be the last 
person who dies in a war.  If there is a reasonable possibility that a legislature 
may go from moratorium on execution to ending all executions and they are in 
the process of studying that, it makes no sense to have somebody executed a 
month before a termination or repeal of a death penalty.  If there is that 
possibility, you have nothing to lose by suspending the executions.   
Prosecutors should have no argument with that.  They still get the opportunity, 
as was said, to go about their business as usual.  I do not think it is the job of 
the prosecutor to rush the execution. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
Are there questions for Dr. Siegel? 
 
Assemblyman Hambrick:  
Dr. Siegel, I appreciate your stance.  I think we disagree on some issues, but 
honorable people can disagree.  You mentioned France and England.  I believe 
when they had moratoriums, the time frames involved from conviction to 
execution were significantly shorter than ours.  We have automatic appeals and 
re-appeals, and the next possible scheduled execution in this state is close to 
two and a half years away.  Bring your comparison more to a situation that 
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would be within our borders and explain to us why the moratorium is needed, 
knowing that the next execution is significantly far removed. 
 
Richard Siegel: 
A man wanted to volunteer to be executed about a year ago.  The American 
Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) took exceptional effort, with others, to appear 
before the Nevada Supreme Court.  If he had held his ground after the  
United States Supreme Court had made its decision on lethal injection, he would 
have been executed.  As it was, he changed his mind.  What happened to that 
man a year ago could happen in exactly the opposite way to any one of the  
81 people on death row.  They could go from deciding that they wanted to 
continue their appeals to not wanting to.  I would expect that we have had 
more volunteers from the Ely prison than from any other prison in the  
United States.  That prison is 300 miles away from nowhere, 300 miles away 
from defense attorneys, and is about the most isolated place we could have put 
a prison.  It is a volunteer-breeding institution.  I would not be surprised if 
someone, not currently slated to be executed, volunteered within the next year. 
 
Assemblyman Hambrick:  
I will accept your scenario.  But I know the closer we come to the end of this 
study, should it be approved, if a prisoner volunteers, someone, such as your 
organization or someone else, will talk that person into waiting for the study 
results.  I will accept that, but should we stop at this point?  The closer we get 
to the end of this study, if this legislation passes, the keener your instincts will 
become.  We both know that.  Am I assuming wrong? 
 
Richard Siegel: 
You know we are going to try to stop any execution that occurs within this 
context.  It really does not matter if we are six weeks away from the end of the 
study or only halfway through.  Whether we are seriously committing ourselves 
to an honest study of whether the abolition of the death penalty might make 
sense to the people of Nevada, or to a study, in this case, that would contribute 
to making that decision because we are not using the word "abolition" here, 
you know this is going to contribute more information.  That is why the judges 
voted for it.  While we are doing that, most of us would want to pause.  Most 
of us would not want to go beyond the point of no return within that context, 
whichever time it is. 
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer:  
In 1996, the ACLU stated that a state's ban on physician-assisted suicide 
substantially interferes with protected liberty interest and cannot be sustained.  
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What is your objection if someone wants to volunteer?  Your organization has 
indicated that a person's right to a physician-assisted suicide is acceptable.   
 
Richard Siegel: 
Our position on assisted suicide or the right to volunteer is not in this bill and 
will not be in this bill.   
 
Maizie Pusich, Chief Deputy Public Defender, Washoe County Public Defender, 

Reno, Nevada: 
I am here on behalf of the Washoe County Public Defender.  For the past  
12 years, I have been the supervising attorney in our homicide division.  We are 
a little bit different from Las Vegas.  The only permanent member of our 
homicide division is me.  When we get the obligation to defend someone 
charged with homicide, I choose among my staff to find the people who are 
most talented and least busy.  I have for you this evening information that  
I would like you to consider with respect to Washoe County.  That is where 
I have always worked and what I know about. 
 
The expenses of capital defense are significant.  The American Bar Association 
recommends that approximately 1,200 attorney-hours go into the defense of a 
capital case.  With very few exceptions, our office has been unable to meet that 
with current staffing levels.  We approximate 800 to 1,000 attorney-hours will 
go into a capital case.  That is one person tied up for six months and able to do 
nothing else.  In a non-capital case, it is approximately half of that, even though 
it is still a murder, is still complicated, and is still very important.  In a capital 
case, our research and presentation takes approximately twice as long as in a 
non-capital guilty plea.  Our additional expert expenses in the capital cases run 
two to four times as much as in the non-capital homicides.   
 
One of the concerns expressed has to do with deterrence, specifically 
generalized deterrence—keeping other people from committing these offenses.  
In my experience, that assumes a criminal I have never seen—someone who is 
rational and plans to get caught.  Very few are rational, and among those that 
are, none of them plan to get caught.  What does all this expense accomplish?  
In Washoe County since 1977, in 39 separate cases, a notice of intent to seek 
the death penalty has been filed by the prosecution.  In those cases, the death 
sentence has been imposed in 27 cases, either by juries or panels under an old 
system that is no longer valid.  Of those, 11 have been changed by reviewing 
courts, 4 have been executed, and 3 of those executions would not be legal if 
they occurred today because their sentences were not imposed by juries.  All 
four were volunteers, meaning that they had given up challenges that are 
authorized by the system.  I would respectfully submit that we are running the 
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most expensive form of assisted suicide in the world.  Five of the people, who 
were sentenced by judges or panels to die, died of natural causes or suicide, so 
in Washoe County you are more likely to die of natural causes than to be 
executed, whether you volunteer or not.   
 
I would urge you to pass this legislation to study the cost.  I personally know 
the cost when we talk about these numbers.  I have not read them to you, but  
I know the names of every person I have described here.  I get telephone calls 
from many of them.  I get letters from many of them.  I get calls and letters 
from family members.  They are not simply statistics, and I would challenge 
anyone here to go to death row and find someone who was rich or well 
educated or had sufficient resources for their defense. 
 
Rebecca Gasca, representing the American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada, 

Reno, Nevada:    
We support this bill as it stands right now.  My testimony is going to support a 
broadening of this moratorium.  One of the crucial components of this bill before 
you is the issue of cost, which has largely been overlooked in the State of 
Nevada.  Fiscal considerations are extremely important because of their impact 
on the quality of representation.  Naturally, a death penalty case is something 
that attempts to be fair.  If it is going to be fair, it is going to be costly.  
Regardless of the fiscal crises we are confronted with today in Nevada, the 
Constitution makes no exception to this rule that death penalty trials be fair.   
 
We would like this Committee to seriously consider broadening the moratorium 
so that it not only prohibits executions from being carried out, but also 
temporarily stops all death penalty litigation from being sought.  As you have 
heard, this would not only save time and resources but would also save huge 
opportunity costs.  Those resources that are not being put towards the 
prosecution or the defense in death penalty cases can be put towards 
discovering and researching and prosecuting other trials.  It is clear—the 
opportunity costs are great in death penalty trials. 
 
In the broadest of terms, what death penalty trials seek to do is search and put 
forward justice.  Often, the argument you will hear is that the safety of the 
community is at risk.  It is clear that there are many avenues that make a 
community safe, and it is an obvious argument that the community can be 
much better protected if individual resources and departmental resources were 
placed in other areas.  That is one of the reasons we argue that the moratorium 
in this case should be expanded.  Later, I am sure you will hear from those who 
are not in support of this bill that a moratorium, as it is currently proposed to 
you, will not result in any significant cost savings to the state or to local 
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government.  I would argue that it would save incredible opportunity costs and 
would be a re-diversion of resources. 
 
As you have heard, across the nation almost no death penalty defendant has 
had the opportunity or the money to hire his own attorneys.  Largely, the states 
or counties provide the defense.  In the State of Nevada, what is particularly 
interesting is that the "rich" counties, those counties with higher populations 
and higher tax dollars, have a higher propensity to seek the death penalty 
versus the rural counties, several of which have never sought the death penalty.  
So, in the State of Nevada, whether or not the death penalty will be sought 
depends on where the defendant is.  There is a random, inconsistent use of 
government power across the state, and that is one of the reasons the ACLU 
supports eventual abolition of the death penalty.  But certainly, while the costs 
are being studied, we seek a broadened moratorium. 
 
You will be hearing about the deterrence costs from individuals who are in 
opposition to this bill.  As a prior student of economics, I know that statistics 
are very misleading.  When you hear about the statistics or the propensity of 
individuals to do certain things or to follow a certain line of thinking, it is very 
important to take a look at the methodologies being used.  Every single one of 
the studies, which have been presented to you by those who do not support the 
proposed study in this bill, have been taken apart and judged in academic 
journals as lacking in variables, using unsound methodologies, lacking peer 
reviews, and lacking in the ability to reach the same conclusions when 
replicating the studies.  Using a statistical analysis to determine whether or not 
the death penalty actually deters crime is quite unclear.  In my letter to this 
Committee, I have cited two different individuals who put together studies 
looking at the deterrent effect of the death penalty (Exhibit J).  One of the 
professors used the same data set as one of the cases that has said there is a 
deterrent effect.  Using his methodology on the same set of data, he found the 
death penalty causes a brutalization effect in which the murder rate actually 
increases.  A later, more comprehensive study of various death penalty studies 
has shown that the interrelations of homicides and death penalties are very 
complex and fragile.  As a result, they are not a good basis from which to judge 
public policy decisions relating to whether or not to take lives.  
 
I ask that you consider the arbitrariness of the public defense system, and the 
money and scarce resources invested in defending these people, and the racial 
disparities in the system.  You also should look at where a defendant is when 
the crime is committed and where his trial is going to take place.  In addition, 
there is also the fact that these resources could be diverted in order to address 
opportunity costs within the system today. 
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Chair Koivisto: 
Are there questions from the Committee for these witnesses?  [No response.]  I 
will call three more witnesses to come forward, but if you do not have new 
testimony, a "Me, too," will be sufficient. 
 
Nancy Hart, President, Nevada Coalition Against the Death Penalty, Reno, 

Nevada: 
We believe an in-depth study of the cost of Nevada's death penalty is fully 
warranted.  I would like to make five points concerning the issue of cost, and 
then a couple of points about the moratorium.   
 
The first point is that this is a public policy matter.  There have been some 
questions about why this is an issue that should be of concern.  The answer is 
that decisions about whether or not to have a death penalty and how the death 
penalty should be implemented in this state rest squarely on the shoulders of 
lawmakers.  When so much is at stake, legislators should have complete 
information available to them, including information about the fiscal impact of 
maintaining a death penalty system.  There is every reason to believe that 
Nevada's costs are consistent with the other states' cost studies, and we need 
to find out for ourselves by conducting our own study.  Legislators need to 
know this information in order to carry out public policy decisions on this 
matter. 
 
My second point is that other states are taking similar action.  I have a number 
of handouts, and one has a list of other states that are currently considering 
measures very similar to this (Exhibit K)—either abolition, repeal, or  
a moratorium of the death penalty.  Many of these current state efforts are 
based on concerns about the cost of the death penalty.  It is obvious that we 
are in the middle of a budget crisis, and that is why we find states are 
considering this question.  I also have a photocopy of the New Jersey 
commission executive summary (Exhibit L).  It is one of the more recent and  
in-depth studies that have been conducted. 
 
As you have heard many times this afternoon, it is an extremely expensive 
penalty or program for a very small return, and that is my third point.  For 
complete clarity, we have executed 12 individuals in Nevada since 1977.  
Eleven of those have been people who have given up their appeals—so-called 
"volunteers."  If you consider that 11 of those 12 have been executed by their 
own choice, we only have 1 individual involuntarily executed in over 30 years of 
maintaining this expensive death penalty system.  It is clear how very expensive 
it is for such a small return.  Even if you consider all 12 of those individuals, it is 
still a small return.  I would like to turn your attention to another handout  
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I submitted, which is Governor Richardson's signing statement (Exhibit M).  As 
you all probably know, New Mexico just repealed its death penalty based in part 
on considerations of cost.  Governor Richardson published this statement as he 
struggled with his own position on the death penalty and came to the 
conclusion that New Mexico should repeal its statute.  My last handout contains 
a number of excerpts of voices on this issue (Exhibit N). 
 
My fourth point comes as a result of my primary professional work, which is in 
the area of assisting victims of domestic violence and, to a lesser extent, 
victims of sexual assault and stalking.  While I cannot, and certainly would not, 
ever speak on behalf of all victims or as a murder victim's family member, I can 
say from my own experience advocating for crime victims that we need more 
resources to assist victims recovering from the experience of violent crime.  
There are some who say that when it comes to public safety, cost is no issue; 
yet public safety is not necessarily served when we spend large amounts of 
money seeking the death penalty for a relative handful of violent criminals while 
failing to adequately fund programs that will help all survivors of violence to 
heal.   
 
We submit that in a world of limited financial resources, choices can and must 
be made, and that the cause of public safety may well be better served by 
diverting these precious resources from the death penalty to victim assistance 
programs and violence prevention programs.  Instead of focusing on punishing a 
relative handful of criminals, we must ensure that there are sufficient funds 
dedicated to providing adequate services and advocacy for all victims, but 
especially murder victims' families.  We need an in-depth study of the costs of 
Nevada's death penalty so we can accurately evaluate whether public safety is 
best being served by the continuation of this expensive program.   
 
My fifth point concerning cost is that, as you heard from Mr. Anderson and 
others, the Legislature considered this study in 2002 and came to the 
unanimous conclusion that a cost study should be conducted. A request was 
sent to the Supreme Court with the suggestion that the Court find grant funds, 
but here we are, seven years later, and the study has yet to be done.  Last fall, 
the Advisory Commission on the Administration of Justice voted in favor of 
endorsing a cost study.  This bill provides a vehicle for the very thing we have 
talked about since 2002.  I respectfully suggest that now is the time to do it.  
Now is the time to approve of conducting a comprehensive study of the cost of 
Nevada's death penalty.  We cannot afford to wait any longer. 
 
With respect to the moratorium—we support the moratorium in this bill because 
it makes sense to halt executions while we are studying the extent of the 
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moratorium's fiscal impact.  If you are concerned about the expense of having a 
death penalty, you should not be using it while waiting for critical information 
that will help make future public policy decisions regarding its use. 
 
It has been said that it may be two or two and a half years before an execution 
is anticipated, but, as Mr. Siegel pointed out and as my own testimony points 
out, the vast majority of the executions in this state have been of volunteers.  It 
is quite likely and quite possible that an execution could be scheduled if we had 
a volunteer within the next two years.   
 
You have also heard a proposal from Rebecca Gasca on behalf of the ACLU to 
broaden the moratorium to a comprehensive one that would halt all executions, 
all pending appeals, and all new criminal cases.  I would like to suggest another 
alternative for your consideration that would also broaden the moratorium.  We 
suggest that the moratorium extend to all new criminal cases filed after the 
effective date of this legislation.  There are two important reasons for such a 
moratorium.  One, it would bring about immediate and substantial cost savings 
because, as you have heard, much of the cost of maintaining the death penalty 
system happens at the beginning stages of the homicide cases.  Two, it would 
avoid the complication of halting pending appeals or pending trials in which 
juries may already be sitting.  I do not have an amendment formally drafted, but 
I would be happy to provide one to the Committee articulating this broader 
moratorium, and we would urge the Committee to amend the bill by broadening 
it in that way.  In any case, we would say, "Really, what is the harm of 
imposing a moratorium?"   
 
Larry Struve, representing the Religious Alliance In Nevada, Reno, Nevada: 
Most of you are familiar with this coalition.  It is comprised of the  
five denominations of the Roman Catholic Dioceses of Reno and Las Vegas; the 
Episcopal Diocese of Nevada; the United Methodist Church, North and South; 
the Nevada Presbytery; and the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America.  We 
have between 500,000 and 600,000 parishioners who worship in our 
congregations throughout the state. 
 
The Religious Alliance In Nevada (RAIN) Board, which is comprised of  
two representatives, north and south, from each of these denominations has 
voted unanimously to support A.B. 190 and to direct me to bring this testimony 
before you.  The Religious Alliance In Nevada has long been involved with the 
study of the death penalty.  Every denomination in RAIN has taken a position, 
both locally here in Nevada and at their national level, to oppose the death 
penalty, and they do it on moral grounds.  However, our support for this bill 
does not involve the moral discussion I am sure we will have later.  This is 
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about completing business that was not completed in 2002.  The Religious 
Alliance In Nevada commends Assemblyman Anderson for bringing this bill 
forward.  In the handout in front of you (Exhibit O), you will see that on April 
18, 2002, RAIN called for a study of the fiscal impact of the death penalty.  
The reason we were concerned about fiscal impact at that time was that we 
were heading into a recession in the earlier part of this decade.  This was 
viewed as a very serious issue because there were predictions that our fiscal 
deficit was going to be $1 billion over the next ten years.  Little did we know 
what was awaiting us in 2009. 
 
We advocate for many programs, and RAIN is concerned with how the limited 
money is being cut from programs that serve the least among us.  The people 
who need health and education assistance, senior citizens—all these members 
of the population are concerns of RAIN, so money that is put into a death 
penalty system, if unnecessary, is money that is not available to be considered 
for these other, very necessary projects. 
 
In April, 2002, we requested that a recommendation be included in the final 
report submitted to the 2003 Nevada Legislature that the cost of putting a 
prisoner to death in Nevada be calculated.  Let us see if it is worth the 
investment compared to these other needs that are not being met.  As you have 
heard others testify, the recommendation was not carried out, so we still do not 
know the cost.  Had our recommendation been adopted seven years ago, you 
might be in a better position to determine whether or not the death penalty is a 
good investment, given the terrible fiscal crisis that the state is in today.  
Notwithstanding that, it is not too late to get this information. 
 
I have had many discussions about the death penalty with parishioners of all 
member denominations.  Many are very conservative and many believe in the 
death penalty.  Others, of course, are passionately opposed on moral grounds.  
In my discussions, I have found that there is one thing they all agree on—they 
want to find out what it costs to maintain the death penalty system in Nevada.   
So, I am here on behalf of the RAIN Board to ask you to finish the job.  We 
support the moratorium, not for the reasons everyone else has stated, but 
because it is a way for you, the Legislature, to tell the constituents of Nevada 
that you are serious about this study and that you are willing to impose the 
moratorium to emphasize to everyone that we want to get a handle on our 
death penalty system and what it costs us.  If we are going to have a debate on 
the moral issues, then we can do so knowing important facts.  
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Julianna Ormsby, representing the Nevada Women's Lobby and the League of 

Women Voters of Nevada, Carson City, Nevada: 
Both of the groups I represent have adopted positions opposing the death 
penalty.  At issue today, however, is the fiscal impact of the death penalty.  
You have been provided with a lot of information, handouts, and materials to 
review; and you have heard and will hear very compelling testimony today.  We 
urge your support of A.B. 190.  We think it is a worthy study.  We think the 
issue needs to be looked at for all the reasons you have heard.  We would also 
support the amendments you have heard thus far. 
 
Diane Crow, State Public Defender, Office of the State Public Defender: 
I did not prepare any testimony or do any research, nor do I have any handouts.  
What I did, however, was make a phone call to my Ely office where, up until 
yesterday, a capital case was pending.  It was a White Pine County case.  The 
district attorney was prosecuting it as a capital case.  The gentleman has been 
in jail for over a year.  The case was not set to go to trial for a couple more 
months, so we had not finished the pretrial preparation, but to this point, the 
pretrial costs just for expert witnesses were $70,000.  That expense does not 
take into account the two required attorneys, one of whom has to travel from 
Carson City to Ely because I do not have the staff in Ely to handle a capital 
case.  So, that is the only information I have—those current values on a capital 
case that was pending in Ely.  It negotiated out yesterday, but at that point, still 
cost the state, or White Pine County, $70,000 plus attorney costs, district 
attorney costs, jail costs, and court time.  So, I will say a hearty, "Me, too," 
and I would like to thank Assemblyman Anderson and the other sponsors of this 
bill and urge you to consider it seriously. 
 
JoNell Thomas, Special Public Defender, Office of the Clark County Special 

Public Defender, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am not going to repeat what has been said by others.  By my count, we have 
approximately 40 cases in Clark County at the trial level in which the state is 
seeking the death penalty.  I find this to be an extraordinary number given the 
size of our state and given the fact that there are only 81 people on death row 
after all these years.  I am told that a prior Clark County district attorney would 
only seek the death penalty in four or five cases a year.  It appears that the 
current district attorney is seeking the death penalty in approximately three to 
four times as many cases.  I do not know the reason for the change.  I do not 
think the murder rate has quadrupled in the last few years, but I do know that 
this is a tremendous burden on our system. 
 
Mr. Silverstein will explain, and others have explained, why death penalty cases 
are so much more expensive.  I am going to provide you with some real 
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numbers.  Our very capable office administrator has put together a list for me.  
We looked at out-of-pocket expenses for both types of cases.  This division 
within my office handles only murder cases.  We broke the expenses down into 
murder cases without the death penalty versus murder cases with.  We find 
out-of-pocket expenses, which include travel, expert witnesses, costs for 
investigation above and beyond the cost of office personnel, and training for 
personnel, are running 5.7 times greater for death penalty cases versus  
non-death-penalty cases.  If there were no death penalty cases in my office, if 
we handled only the murders to which we are assigned, we would be able to 
take on a lot more cases.  We would be able to handle kidnapping, sexual 
assault, robbery, and a large number of cases that currently are unable to go to 
the public defender's office because of conflicts of interest.  We are unable to 
take those cases because of caseload, so those cases are assigned on an hourly 
basis, usually at $100 an hour, at very large expense to the counties.  If we did 
not have death penalty cases, we could help with those cases at a considerable 
savings.   
 
I very much applaud the Legislature for considering the moratorium.  My office 
has a lot of detailed financial information which we are more than happy to 
share.  I would urge you, if possible, to expand the moratorium so that these 
savings can happen now, and I thank you for your consideration of this bill. 
 
Dan Silverstein, Capital Defense Lawyer, Office of the Clark County Public 

Defender, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
One item that has not been discussed yet is the ramifications of the Supreme 
Court order on performance standards.  The Supreme Court recently issued a 
60-page document defining the standards of effective representation.  A full 
third of this document is devoted to standards specifically related to capital 
defense.  I think that is an acknowledgment that capital defense is different.  It 
requires a much higher level of investigation and dedication on the part of the 
defense lawyers.  There are a lot of extras that go into a death penalty case.  
As Mr. Pescetta pointed out, as soon as a notice of intent to seek the death 
penalty is filed, suddenly, everything becomes elevated.  If you were buying a 
car, every extra option you look at is going to cost you money.  If you want the 
moon roof or the leather seats, you know that every time you tick off one of 
those extras, you will be paying extra for it.   
 
Some of the extras that are specific to capital cases, as set forth in the 
Supreme Court order, include use of a mandated psychological or mental 
disorder expert in every case.  The Supreme Court suggests that we consider 
using an expert in jury selection.  It requires a continuing duty to investigate the 
client's relationship with correctional officers, parole officers, and doctors who 
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have seen him at the prison.  The Supreme Court says we need to look into 
witnesses who can testify about applicable alternatives to a death sentence.  
That requires expert testimony from people who are familiar with prison 
conditions, and those experts cost money.  They charge hundreds of dollars per 
hour, and you need to pay them for travel as well as for time spent reviewing 
documents.  It also requires medical experts, psychological experts, and experts 
in sociology and cultural history, if necessary.   
 
As an example, I recently had a death penalty case in which the client was 
raised on a Navajo reservation.  We had to go to the Navajo reservation, hire an 
expert in the Navajo culture, and hire a videographer to put together video 
footage we took at the reservation.  All these things are extras on top of what it 
would normally cost to defend a non-capital case. 
 
Given the financial crises we are facing, I would ask the Chair and the 
Committee to consider that this is not the appropriate vehicle to be buying to 
get where we need to go.  Our office supports this bill, and I also support the 
moratorium. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
I believe everyone who has signed in in support of the bill has spoken.  Is there 
anyone else who is in support of this bill who wishes to speak?  [There was no 
response.]  Now, we will go to those who are in opposition.  Let us go down to 
Las Vegas and hear from those who wish to testify. 
 
Andrew Elsenhans, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I represent my family.  This is a picture of my mother and father.  This photo 
was taken in 1984.  My parents came to Las Vegas in 1954.  They opened a 
little shop at 518 Las Vegas Boulevard South.  They were quiet people, the kind 
of people who the neighbors always liked to stop by and pal around with.  They 
were always ready to help a friend or an acquaintance with whatever they could 
help with.   
 
On November 8, 1985, my mother and father were at their store.  Dad was out 
in front, probably working on a watch for a customer, and Mom decided to take 
a nap in the small apartment that they had in the back of the store.  Suddenly, 
my mother awoke to a hear a strange noise, and walked out into the shop to 
see what was going on, only to find my father slumped in a corner of the shop 
in a pool of his own blood, his killer standing over him, delivering the final 
thrusts with a knife that would end my father's life.  My father was 60 years 
old, a kind and gentle man.  My father's killer, Paul Lewis Browning, awoke that 
morning knowing that he needed to get bail money for his girlfriend,  
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Marcia Gaylord. I do not know what Marcia was in jail for that particular 
morning, but Browning decided he would go to my parents' shop and rob them 
so that he could get the money he needed to get Marcia out of jail.  Browning, 
himself, was on parole for an earlier armed robbery, so this act was nothing 
new to him.  In fact, Browning has several such incidents on his record.  Had 
Browning asked my father, he would have undoubtedly handed over whatever 
Browning wanted.  My father had been robbed before.  He knew it was not 
worth resisting, but Browning decided that he did not want any witnesses.  
Witnesses were what got him into jail the previous time he had done this deed. 
 
At some point, Browning decided that Marcia Gaylord's being out of jail was 
worth more than my father's life.  Browning was later apprehended, found 
guilty of my father's murder, and given the death sentence for his crime.  
Browning was given the death sentence, not out of revenge, but to ensure that 
Browning would never commit a crime like this again.  Yes, Browning's mother 
will tell you about her good little boy, her boy who was a doorman at the 
Capitol Building in Washington, D.C., but something happened to Browning—
something that caused him to leave Washington.  Browning went to  
Los Angeles, where he assumed the street name "DC."  DC became a heroin 
addict engaged in various street crimes to make a living.  He started with petty 
theft and then graduated to armed robbery.  DC even stole a car at one point.  
Then, while on parole for an armed robbery, DC decided to leave Los Angeles 
and come to Las Vegas.  DC had been in Las Vegas for less than a month when 
he killed my father. 
 
After my father's death, my mother was crushed.  She lived on for 23 years, 
living alone day after day and hoping that, one day, she would see justice done, 
but it never came.  In 2004, Browning's sentence was overturned, and my 
family had to live through the hell of going back to court to ensure that no one 
else would have to be victimized by Paul Lewis Browning again.  Browning's 
mother testified at the resentencing that she misses her son and that her son is 
a positive influence on the younger members of his family.  Well, my family 
misses my father every day.  Life after my father's murder was so distasteful 
for my grandmother that she, in essence, committed suicide.  She decided that 
she did not want to live in this world anymore and stopped taking her 
medications.  A little more than a year later, my grandmother was also gone. 
 
My mother became a shut-in, so traumatized by witnessing her husband's 
murder that she rarely went outside.  I left the Army after my first enlistment to 
come back here and try to help my mother cope.  We tried to run the store 
together for a while, but after a few short years, my mother could not handle it 
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anymore, and we closed the shop down.  She pulled back into her own little 
world, locked the door, and threw away the key. 
 
I believe the only reason she kept on living was so that she could see justice 
done.  On March 9, 2009, my mother gave up on the justice system.  My sister 
and I buried her this past Sunday.  I, myself, have felt trapped here in Las Vegas 
between having to help support my mother and the continuing drama 
surrounding Browning's seemingly endless appeals.  I never felt that I could 
move on with my life.  Browning might be a positive influence on the younger 
members of his family, but Browning's actions have utterly destroyed my 
family.  I believe that Browning is a positive influence on the younger members 
of his family because he is in jail.  Browning can point to a situation and say, 
"Hey, don't screw up like I did.  You'll wind up here." 
 
If the state carries out Browning's sentence, his life will still carry that same 
warning:  "Hey, don't screw up like Uncle Paul did.  You'll wind up on the end 
of an executioner's needle."  I believe that good little boy that Paul Browning's 
mom remembers is gone forever.  Study after study show that a large majority 
of people who fall into a life of crime return to it time and time again after 
getting out of prison.  The percentages vary from study to study, but are all 
high.  Studies also show that a percentage of people who are convicted of 
murder commit another murder once they are released from prison.  Sometimes 
they do not even wait until they are released from prison.  At least three federal 
prison officers have been killed since 1982 by inmates previously convicted of 
murders, and many more inmates, I am sure. 
 
Commuting Paul Lewis Browning's sentence would serve no purpose.  It would 
show the younger members of his family that the justice system is broken.  It 
would show that you can beat the system; just like with parents who threaten 
their children with punishment for committing certain acts, and then, when the 
child crosses the line, the parents cave in and let the child off with little or no 
punishment.  I think we all know someone like that, someone who has the 
horribly bratty children who walk all over them.  That is the kind of society we 
are promoting with A.B. 190.  We promised Paul Lewis Browning death, and we 
are looking to give him, at best, a life sentence with the possibility of parole—a 
life of ease, walking among the other inmates in the system as a  
"Grand Poobah" with a high position inside the prison organization.  Or maybe 
someone will get the idea that Browning is no longer a threat and attempt to 
parole him.  Maybe that would work for Browning, maybe not.  I cannot say for 
sure, but think of the message we are sending.  My father was killed, my 
grandmother died grieving for him, and my mother died waiting for justice.  And 
now, because we do not want to overly traumatize Browning's family, we are 
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going to consider this bill.  Is that the message we want to send?  "Oh, don't 
worry, you can steal and rob and kill all you want, and we aren't going to 
punish you because it might traumatize your mother; because it is so expensive 
to prosecute you."   
 
What about the victims' families?  Is the thinking in the justice system so 
broken that the victims no longer matter?  In the 1990s I met with the Assistant 
District Attorney, Dan Seaton, who was a prosecutor in the case.  We met 
regularly to discuss how the Browning case was going.  At one such meeting, 
Mr. Seaton told me that all of Browning's contemporaries were dead, with the 
possible exception of Marcia Gaylord.  Marcia had simply disappeared.  Yes, all 
of his contemporaries are dead, either because of AIDS, drug overdose, street 
crime, whatever; they all went, one by one.  Is it not a statement about our 
justice system that a man sentenced to death should outlive all his old street 
buddies?  Maybe we should look into the cost savings of fixing the utterly 
broken appeals system.  As far as the money saved being put towards other 
programs, I believe it was Mr. Pescetta who said, "The money will be spent 
somewhere."  It does not matter where.  They will find a place to spend that 
money, and not necessarily on the programs everyone wants. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
Thank you, Mr. Elsenhans, for telling us your experience.  Are there any 
questions from the Committee?  There are none.  We have some people here in 
Carson City who also wish to testify. 
 
Samuel Bateman, Deputy District Attorney, Office of the District Attorney,  

Clark County, Las Vegas, Nevada, and representing the Nevada District 
Attorneys Association, Reno, Nevada: 

To my left is the President of the Nevada District Attorneys Association,  
Russell Smith, who traveled here today from Winnemucca.  He is the  
District Attorney for Humboldt County.  To my right is Chris Owens, Chief 
Deputy District Attorney in the Clark County District Attorney's Office.  He is 
the team chief of the Major Violators Unit and has been prosecuting capital 
murder cases for many, many years.   
 
Initially, I appreciated the fact that this was a somewhat-limited bill.  The bill 
includes a moratorium on the actual executions to do a cost study.  That is my 
understanding of the bill in front of you.  The Association is in opposition, in 
part, to this bill.  Obviously, the Association often weighs in on issues 
surrounding the death penalty due to the horrific first degree murders that we 
prosecute on a daily basis.  However, we are aware that issues of sentencing 
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are matters of public policy.  This is something that falls squarely within the 
purview of the Legislature.   
 
In making these types of decisions, though, it is incumbent upon this Legislature 
to have and utilize accurate and impartial information.  Therefore, we do not 
necessarily oppose a study regarding the costs associated with death penalty 
prosecution in the State of Nevada.  Obviously, our concerns are that the study 
itself be accurate, include fair and unbiased information from fair and unbiased 
sources, and include some of the things I think some of the Committee 
members have brought up here today that are highly relevant to the overall 
criminal justice system.  With the Chair's permission, I respectfully request that 
both Mr. Smith, first, and then Mr. Owens be able to address some of our 
concerns going forward. 
 
Russell Smith, Humboldt County District Attorney, Winnemucca, Nevada; 

President, Nevada District Attorneys Association: 
The question is the study.  Is it important?  Absolutely, it is important.  If we 
are trying to make a decision on what to do, we need to have information.  But 
what information is being gathered?  It was testified to several times already 
today that numbers can be manipulated.  We would like the Nevada District 
Attorneys Association to be involved with the questions that will be asked in 
the study.  
 
Several questions have been asked here such as what might be the benefit of 
having the death penalty remain on the books because of plea negotiations.  We 
had testimony today by the state public defender concerning their case that just 
ended due to a plea negotiation.  There is a cost that comes with that.  We 
would like to participate in the study. 
 
Another part of the cost study that I continue to hear about today, and which 
just infuriates me, is the talk about the cost of doing business.  Someone just 
lost a loved one, and we are talking about the cost of doing business.  When 
you lose a loved one and you want justice, and we, the state, have told people 
that we will protect them, the actual dollars become a little less important.   
 
I know we are trying to balance a budget and we have an expensive process in 
place, but that process is one of protecting our communities.  That process is 
something that we have promised people we would do for them.  It is called the 
social contract.  We all learn about that in school.  As the lawmakers and the 
prosecutors of this state, we promised people that we would protect them.  The 
cost of doing business is the cost to make certain justice is done, which 
includes justice for the people who lose loved ones.   
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Remember, it has already been testified to today that over 1,000 people are in 
prison for murder and only 81 are on death row.  That is because the 81 were 
the worst of the worst.  These 81 murderers did not just walk up to people and 
shoot them.  These 81 murderers met the aggravating qualifiers to qualify for 
the death penalty.  Just killing someone does not qualify an individual to be 
considered for the death penalty.  The death penalty is reserved for the worst of 
the murderers who commit crimes in this state.  I recently prosecuted a case in 
which a father took his baby and smashed his head seven times on a wall.  
Should I have not prosecuted that crime because it was going to cost my 
county money?  Or does justice demand that I prosecute it?  It absolutely 
demands that I prosecute it.   
 
The "cost of doing business" has been mentioned.   Every single person who 
has testified here today, who has spoken of their true beliefs, has told you that 
they are morally opposed to the death penalty.  This bill has been brought 
before this Legislature on numerous occasions.  It has been turned down.  We 
see the same exact bill in a new wrapping.  Now, we are in a budget crisis, so 
we are looking at the financial issue instead of the moral issue.  It is both, and 
we have to be honest with ourselves about what it is we are looking at.  This is 
not just a financial issue.  This is a moral issue, and not just for those who are 
morally opposed to it, but also for those who believe they deserve for this 
government to protect them. 
 
The Nevada District Attorneys Association is not opposed to the study.  We 
would like to be involved with formation of the questions and the outline that 
will be looked at.  When we look at how much it costs Nevada, let us be careful 
that we really are looking at the cost to Nevada, and not at the federal cost.   
A huge portion of the money that goes into death penalty costs is federal 
money—the federal appeals, the federal habeas corpus—not state money.  So 
let us talk about what it is really costing Nevada to have the death penalty.  Let 
us form those questions properly so we are given a true study. 
 
Assemblyman Horne:  
Mr. Anderson is coming to this issue from the emotional side as well, because 
of a murder in his family, so that side of the issue does not escape him.  When 
we talk about cost, do the district attorneys' offices make cost analyses when 
they prosecute a case?  Is it not true that you make a cost determination in a 
crime concerning whether or not you are going to spend money on certain  
DNA analyses, or whether you are going to spend money on certain experts?   
That is no different; it is just on a different scale.  Are there certain crimes for 
which we never consider cost?  Is cost completely off the table when you talk 
about the death penalty? 
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Russell Smith: 
No, as I testified to, cost is important.  Cost takes a lesser role when you take 
someone's life.  As a moral issue, if we are looking at a statutory sexual assault 
and whether we are going to charge it as a rape, that is a different issue.  If 
someone just took an individual's life and we are talking about the death 
penalty, he did not just take a life, he took that individual's life in a very hideous 
way. 
 
Assemblyman Horne:  
I understand that.  All of us on this Committee understand that, but this bill 
deals with a moratorium to explore the cost.  You make some valid points on 
where the money is actually coming from—either federal or state.  You also 
suggested that we should not consider putting a hold on executions because of 
the heinous types of crimes these are.  We would not be releasing anybody; we 
are not suggesting anyone get life with the possibility of parole, or anything like 
that.  It would basically be a hold to determine how much money the state is 
spending on having the death penalty.  I am trying to figure out whether or not 
you believe that we should not make those types of cost analyses when 
considering a death penalty. 
 
Russell Smith: 
No, in fact, I am advocating that we do the study.  We need to know what 
those costs are.  We need to know accurately, though, what the costs are to 
the state, what the costs are to the counties, and what the costs are to the 
federal system. 
 
Assemblyman Horne:  
Can you look for those costs and have a moratorium at the same time? 
 
Russell Smith: 
We are opposed to the moratorium; absolutely opposed to the moratorium.  
How many studies have the Legislature, or anyone for that matter including the 
counties, initiated that get accomplished on time?  Most of them do not, even 
when we are only looking at how much it is going to cost to build a building.  
Those studies do not come in on time.  To stop doing business as usual on 
something we are studying does not make sense.  You continue doing business; 
you do the study; then you determine if you need to fix what you are doing.  
You do not usually just stop what you are doing, stop business, and then do the 
study.   
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Assemblyman Horne:  
We would not be releasing anyone.  We heard testimony that part of the 
problem in determining costs could be that the district attorneys' offices, as 
well as the police departments and the federal agencies, do not readily give 
information concerning exactly how much they spend on the process.  If that 
information is forthcoming, I do not think two and a half years is going to be 
much of a problem. 
 
Russell Smith: 
I do not see that the district attorneys' offices are going to withhold 
information.  Information from my office is available through the county 
commissioners because we do not have a line item for death penalty cases.  
That is an augmentation to the budget, so it would be really easy to determine 
how much was spent.  Testimony was just given that the rural counties do not 
request the death penalty as often.  We have gone ten years without seeking 
the death penalty because no case was death-penalty-worthy in the rural 
counties.  In fact, we go many years without a murder.  Las Vegas does not do 
that.  There are people who are willing to commit more violent crimes in the 
larger cities.  That could be due to numbers of people or whatever.  There are 
all kinds of theories about that, but I know we do not deal with that many 
murders, and we deal with even fewer death penalty cases because they do not 
qualify.  They are not that heinous. 
 
Assemblyman Mortenson:  
You started out talking about keeping citizens safe from people who have killed 
other people.  Then you say that if the crime is more heinous, you want the 
death penalty.  You want to kill the perpetrator; you want to murder him; you 
want to give him a death sentence.  That does not sound as though you are 
trying to isolate these people from the citizens.  It sounds like revenge to me.  If 
you put someone in jail for life, you have isolated that individual from the public.  
I do not think the state should be in the business of revenge.  The state should 
separate the people who can do harm from its citizens. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
We are not debating the right or wrong of the death penalty here.  What we are 
discussing here is a study.  I do not want to get into that debate at this point. 
 
Assemblyman Segerblom:  
As I understand this bill, everything goes forward; nothing stops.  If you want 
to prosecute someone with the death penalty, the appeals would go forward.  
Every step goes forward.  The only thing that would be different is that no one 
can actually be executed in the death chamber for two and a half years until 
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July of 2011.  Also, as I understand it, there is no one on death row who would 
even be scheduled for execution during the next two years.  I do not see why, if 
you do not mind the study, you would oppose the moratorium. 
 
Russell Smith: 
Placing a moratorium on the death penalty to take a look at the completed study 
is the first step in abolishment.  It is also going to put a chilling effect on any 
plea negotiations.  Very few people plead "straight up."  If they know that, 
most likely, all that will be on the table later is life in prison, they are not going 
to plead to life in prison to take the death penalty off the table.  As a result, the 
number of trials will increase and plea negotiations will be drastically affected. 
 
Chris Owens, Chief Deputy District Attorney, Office of the District Attorney, 

Clark County, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I have worked in the Clark County District Attorney's Office for over 27 years, 
handling murder cases for most of that time.  Over the last 10 to 12 years,  
I have been primarily involved in capital cases and all types of murders.  My 
team handles most of them.  I appeared before the subcommittee that was 
looking into many of these issues eight years ago and gave a report on behalf of 
our office on many of the statistical items that have been mentioned today. 
 
I sat on the Stewart Bell death penalty review committee, and I sit on the 
current committee, and I have not noticed any large differences in the way 
business has been done there, or in the way choices have been made about 
which cases the death penalty will be sought on.  The whole purpose of that 
review, which arose at the request of the defense bar back when Mr. Bell 
became the district attorney, was to stabilize and put some thought into that 
whole process.  We have continued to try to do that.  We compare and look at 
a lot of factors, because we want to make certain that the death penalty is 
applied in a fair manner.  That is the way we, as prosecutors, can feel good 
about the job we do and feel good about ourselves and that we are doing 
something we feel is fair and appropriate throughout this process.   
 
We have been involved in a lot of these studies.  As I mentioned, we testified to 
the subcommittee eight years ago, and I reviewed the minutes from those 
hearings in which I testified.  Today in the presentation on this bill, we heard 
figures that the death penalty costs around $2 million.  Back then, the 
testimony presented during the opening hearing on that bill was that the 
difference was $2.5 to $5 million.  So, the cost has decreased, apparently, by a 
factor of about 50 percent over the last eight years.  You might even think we 
are getting "fire sale" numbers compared to the figure of $5 million. 
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As a prosecutor, you look at those figures of $2 million or $1 million, and you 
ask yourself, "Where is that money going to?"  I make a great salary in the 
District Attorney's Office and I have no complaints.  But when I hear figures 
such as $1 million or $2 million, I am thinking, "Who is getting this money?"  
That is money you could retire on.  Where is this money going?  My team's 
salaries are quite a bit less than mine because they have not "topped out" in the 
office.  We are handling 20 to 24 murder cases apiece.  We do not put the 
restriction on ourselves that the defense bar does.  We handle almost all of the 
capital cases in the office, and we do that on our salaries, so where is all this 
extra money going?  The most money I have ever heard of being paid by the 
court for a post-conviction petition was $60,000, recently.  That was a lot of 
money and was on a non-death-penalty case in which a large petition was filed.  
So, I do not know where on earth these figures are coming from, but somebody 
is making a lot of money. 
 
I do not know if this whole process and all these studies are just full of 
hyperbole.  It would be nice to get to the bottom of this, and we wholeheartedly 
support an earnest effort to do that.  As prosecutors, we are a little skeptical 
when we look at studies containing a diversity of figures in the millions of 
dollars.  Some studies have stated the difference is $100,000 to $200,000, 
while others claim the difference is millions of dollars.  Either the studies are 
horribly flawed, or some states are not doing things right, and they need to 
compare notes more. 
 
Unlike Mr. Pescetta, I take both sides.  I handle death penalty capital cases as 
well as regular types of cases, so I see the amount of costs involved in both.  
There is a difference, but I do not see that it is a huge difference.  I just finished 
a trial during which a California expert was called who was on the stand for  
two days during a penalty hearing.  He went into all the details of the 
defendant's life, and all the workup that we heard about concerning his family 
genealogy and family tree, including drugs his mother took and his entire 
learning environment.  It was a non-death-penalty review, not even a capital 
case, and they spent thousands of dollars on it.  There is a difference, but I do 
not see a huge difference. 
 
The prior Assembly bill suggested that a study be done.  I do not know why one 
was not done, but back then, they were not proposing that a moratorium 
needed to accompany that study.  So, why do we need a moratorium now if we 
did not need one then?  What has happened in the last eight years that we now 
need a moratorium?  A moratorium is a remedy that seems to be perennially 
attached to the targeted death penalty malady of the day, no matter what it is.  
While there is a logical symmetry between interim discontinuation of a practice 
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when the integrity of the process itself is at issue, which is what we had  
eight years ago, this nexus is, at best, strained when the issue raised is one of 
pure utility—which is how the present bill has been phrased.  If economics is 
the true concern here, it is beyond debate that an execution will guarantee a 
cessation of further costs, which is what we are apparently trying to do here. 
 
Many states have recently conducted this type of study, and there are many 
states that have done moratoriums.  I am unaware of any states that have done 
a moratorium as a condition of such a study.  To my mind, the comparison is 
like comparing apples to oranges.  It is important to remember that there are a 
lot of non-monetary costs that are provoked by a pause in executions, not in the 
process, but by the pause in the executions alone.  A 2006 study conducted by 
professors at the University of Houston found that the Illinois Governor's 
commutation of death sentences was coincident with the increased risk of 
homicide by the residents of Illinois, producing an estimated 150 additional 
homicides during the post-event period.  They have cautioned that people in 
institutions investigating this course of action may wish to consider the 
possibility that a seemingly innocuous moratorium on executions could very well 
come at a heavy cost, and one that is not necessarily financial.  A noted 
professor of law and scholar at the University of California at Berkeley noted 
that:  "What we are paying for at such great cost is essentially our own 
ambivalence about capital punishment.  We try to maintain the apparatus of 
state killing and another apparatus that almost guarantees that it won't happen.  
The public pays for both sides." 
 
The ambivalence mentioned in this quote does not seem to affect the opinions 
of most citizens, however.  Years of Gallup polling have disclosed a consistent 
two-thirds, or higher, public support for the death penalty.  Reports of recent 
studies show huge cost disparities—$125,000 to $3 million—depending on the 
state.  There are three states among those studied that decided it was 
impossible to even come up with a number—Tennessee, New Jersey, and 
Connecticut.  They said it simply was not possible to determine the cost.   
 
This has been a historical problem, as the U.S. Government Accountability 
Office found almost two decades ago.  It said that the conclusions of the 
reports, of that day of this type, did not actually compare non-death-sentence 
cases with death sentence cases.  Some of the studies did not contain actual 
cost data; further, even in cases where cost data was cited, the data was 
incomplete.  The Maryland report is the most recent and was commented on by 
a William B. Saxbe Designated Professor of Law at Moritz College of Law at  
Ohio State University.  He said, "After reading the report, I must say that I am 
quite underwhelmed.  Though I tend to agree with some of the report's findings,  
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the supporting analysis was no more sophisticated than what I would expect to 
see in a college term paper."  Yet we see that these conclusions, $1 million and 
$2 million, are uncritically regurgitated in the media on almost a daily basis.   
 
Dr. Sutherland, the late president of the American Sociological Society, has 
opined that the cost "is not inherent in the death penalty, but imposed by 
judges, or is inherent in the system."  This is that two-headed system we are 
talking about that has hurt families who were violated, as we just heard, by that 
individual Mr. Browning in Las Vegas.  A particular flaw is a failure to include 
the effect on case resolutions.  That has been mentioned by some of the 
Committee members.  
 
Assemblyman Horne:  
What harm would be done if the moratorium is put in place?  I have not heard a 
good reason yet.  I thought I heard you say we would be at risk of increases in 
these types of crimes.  Is your argument that the death penalty is a deterrent? 
 
Chris Owens: 
I thought it was a good one, but you may disagree with me.  These gentlemen 
have done a couple of studies—one in Texas and one in Illinois.  They looked at 
not stalling the process or having a moratorium on the process of seeking the 
death penalty, but having a moratorium only on executions.  They computed 
that out into actual future murders and the deterrence effect that is lost.  In the 
state of Illinois, based on the moratorium that was proposed before it became 
permanent, 150 murders occurred during the time period they were looking at.  
That study is available.  You can disagree with it, but it is out there and has 
been talked about extensively. 
 
A report that came out last month found that states that have repealed the 
death penalty are having lower resolutions in their murder cases.  The public 
defender at this witness table earlier said that we should be careful of economic 
studies and things of that nature.  As a prosecutor, I do not need to hear about 
economics.  To me, that is common sense.  If the death penalty is my starting 
point, then, where do you go from there?  If the death penalty is gone, my 
starting point becomes life without [parole].  People do not come in and plead 
straight up to life without.  Everybody wants something.  When that becomes 
the starting point, what happens?   
 
A study came out a month ago that shows in states that have the death 
penalty, the difference is 300 percent.  They were able to get negotiations 
above 20 years on serious murder cases 20 percent of the time.  In states that 
have repealed the death penalty, they are getting that result only 5 percent of 
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the time.  As a prosecutor, you have a choice.  You can hold your ground and 
take them to trial because they are not going to take the deal.  You must go to 
trial to get the first "with use," and that is what I feel is deserved, so you are 
going to have a lot more trials.  More realistically, a second study by a professor 
associated with Princeton says that prosecutors are giving up and selling the 
cases lower.  They are seeing lower incarceration rates and more early paroles 
for people who, when they had the death penalty, would have been getting life 
without.  
 
Those are two real effects of the loss resulting from a moratorium.  It affects 
plea bargains and it affects deterrence on crimes.  Something psychological 
happens with people who do not think a state is serious about murders, and it 
affects the entire chain of events all the way through the plea bargain.  That is 
a real concrete effect on the plea bargain.  You do not have to rely on the 
studies; it is just common sense. 
   
Assemblyman Horne:   
Whether or not there are real effects can clearly be debated.  You also 
questioned the defense costs when defending death penalty cases.  Where 
would a prosecutor get information on the defense costs for those cases?  Are 
they published? 
 
Chris Owens: 
I do not recall saying that.  If I did, then it is a misunderstanding.  We handle a 
lot more cases than the defense attorneys do because they impose a certain 
standard on themselves to accept only a certain number of cases.  That is a 
self-fulfilling issue, a self-imposed standard.  They look to the ABA, but the ABA 
has been opposed to the death penalty.  Those are the standards our local 
offices seek to apply.  The ABA has made no secret of being opposed to the 
death penalty.  Over 20 years ago, I read that a tactic to be adopted by groups 
opposed to the death penalty was to do everything they could to escalate the 
costs of prosecuting death penalty cases, so that the system would bog down 
to a point where people who wanted the death penalty would give up, based 
upon economic concerns.  They made no secret of that fact, and it has been 
heavily publicized over the last two decades.  That is what goes through my 
mind.  It is nothing specific, but it is something I am aware of. 
 
I spend my time on death penalty and other cases, as I mentioned.  If you are 
going to look at the economics of the death penalty, you need to look at the 
whole picture.  You need to balance the costs as well as the savings.  By the 
way, in Mr. Pescetta's office there are two sections.  In the mid-1990s,  
Mr. Pescetta was the sole attorney in his firm.  Now, his firm has 12 attorneys 
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plus staff.  The Ninth Circuit funds that with their discretionary funds.   
Mr. Pescetta's firm handles a lot of other types of murders that have nothing to 
do with the death penalty, and the litigation is extensive.  I was in court last 
week for the third time on a post-conviction relief petition on a case that is over 
ten years old.  It is a non-death case in which the gentleman pled guilty.  We 
are still fighting and litigating that case.  That is ridiculous. 
 
When I try non-death cases, I face the same kinds of things I face in death 
penalty proceedings—the experts, the second phase, et cetera.  We are fighting 
tooth and nail whether the murder case is a capital one or not.  It is with 
considerable irony that I noted yesterday a report by the Morgan Quitno Press 
that Nevada once again leads all 50 states in violent crime—a designation it has 
occupied for most of the past decade.  In murder alone we rank sixth.  
Immediately upon release of yesterday's report, the local media dubbed us "the 
most dangerous state in the country."  This serves to remind us that, while we 
are crunching numbers and debating the cost of justice and community peace, 
the perpetrators of this predatory mayhem will recognize no corresponding 
moratorium on their deadly deeds. 
 
Brett Kandt, representing the Attorney General; Executive Director, Advisory 

Council for Prosecuting Attorneys, Reno, Nevada: 
I will be very brief, because I have submitted correspondence from the  
Nevada Prosecution Advisory Council (Exhibit P), and I will not repeat all the 
information or assertions that are made in the correspondence.  I simply want to 
go on the record to indicate that the Council supports an objective study of the 
cost of the death penalty relative to the cost of any other form of punishment 
that would fall at the end of the punishment and sentencing spectrum.  Finally, I 
want to iterate that the Council is concerned that a moratorium on the 
execution of death sentences, pending the study, will negate the deterrent 
effect of the death penalty, and negatively impact the safety of the public, even 
though no executions are imminent and no significant cost savings may result. 
 
Gayle Farley, representing the Alliance for Victims of Crime, Reno, Nevada: 
I am very against this bill.  I remember voting for this study, but I did not hear 
anything about a moratorium.  I think you are tacking this moratorium onto 
another bill, which seems to happen a lot. 
 
I am also an advocate for victims of crime.  My daughter was murdered  
nine years ago.  She was shot in the back with a .50 caliber gun and her body 
was blown in two.  There was also a little boy involved who she left 
motherless.  He has been in my life forever, but I have not been able to see him 
for a year because his father remarried and they do not want his mother's 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/75th2009/Exhibits/Assembly/EPE/AEPE598P.pdf�
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family to have anything to do with him.  They want to believe the murder never 
happened.  
  
This murder affected my life, and I have not been the same person since.  
Murder affects everyone who has to go through it.  You do not see a lot of 
victims in here talking because they cannot handle it.  They cannot sit here and 
listen to fiscal issues when it is regarding a human life. 
 
I do not want to reiterate what everyone else has said.  For me, as with the 
gentleman who spoke before, there is constantly an appeal, a court hearing, or 
a conversation with the DA's office.  It just never ends.  You talk about the cost 
of death row and putting someone to death, and you say that that is more 
expensive, cost-wise, than keeping them in prison for a long time.  I really am 
voting for the study, but I just cannot believe that is true.  Again, I agree with 
the people who spoke before me; it does affect plea bargaining.  The murderer 
of my daughter at first got life with the possibility of parole.  He appealed that 
sentence, and six months later I found out from a newspaperman that he went 
back to court and got only ten years with ten-years enhancement. 
 
I found out about my daughter's murder on the news, also.  I was watching the 
6:00 p.m. nightly news, and they said that a woman had been shot to death.  
The address was on the television screen, and I saw her car in the driveway.   
I knew it was her.  These are some of the things people like me go through.  
What I went through, sometimes, compared to other people, is not anything.  
I have a girlfriend whose daughter was burned to death.  She was missing for 
three days, raped, and strangled.  The guy hid her for three days and then 
burned her body by a dumpster.  This woman will never be the same again. 
 
All afternoon, I have sat here and listened to you talk about cost; and after I 
heard the word "cost" 82 times during this meeting today, I stopped counting.  
I did not hear anything about the quality of human life for people who have 
suffered the death of a loved one.  The moral issue, to me, is just stunning:  
that we would even put a price on a person's life. 
 
I am not out for revenge.  I am a reasonable person.  I understand the inmates' 
families are suffering.  I do understand that.  Their family member did something 
very wrong; they did not do it.  Maybe they are living with that guilt, but they 
should not be.  Maybe they are living with the pain.  Someone is in jail or 
prison, and family members are hurting, but they can go visit.  They can write 
letters to these people; they can talk to them on the phone.  Do you know, after 
nine years, I still pick up the phone beside my bed to call my daughter?  Do you 
know what it is like to walk into a shopping area and see things in the window 
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and think, "Oh, Kellie would have really liked that."  Do you know what it is like 
not to be able to have my grandson stay in his own room at my house?  He had 
that room for 12 years. 
 
I ask you to think about this.  This moratorium is just the beginning.  Maybe 
I made a mistake when I voted for the study, because any study I have ever 
seen us do ended up costing us more and taking longer.  This is just the tip of 
the iceberg.  If you allow this to happen, it is going to get worse.  Last session 
was a very, very tough session as relates to the law.  We passed a law and we 
are still paying for it, because we did not really listen to the people who were 
involved—the ones behind the scene.  I am talking about Assembly Bill No. 510 
of the 74th Session.  We are still reeling from that decision.  There has been a 
lot of damage, but we do not know how much and probably will not know how 
much damage for a couple of years.  It will probably take a few people getting 
murdered. 
 
I ask you to, please, not worry about the precious dollar.  The dollar is not that 
precious, but a life is.  I understand what Mr. Anderson is talking about, but he 
cannot speak for all the victims.  I do not know if he was a father of someone 
who died.  I can tell you that I am the only victim in this room today, and it is 
because most people cannot sit here and listen to this.  They are just not the 
same. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
Thank you for coming forward with your testimony.  I do not believe there are 
any more people signed in to testify.   
 
I see Paul Townsend, the Legislative Auditor, is here.  The Legislative Auditor is 
who would be doing this study and not a legislative committee.  The timeline 
would be adhered to.  We have had a number of studies conducted by the 
Auditor's Office and they are very professional.  For people who are concerned 
about studies that go on indefinitely, studies do not go on and on when they are 
conducted by the Auditor.  Mr. Townsend is the only person who signed in as 
"neutral" on this bill, so the audit would be a very neutral study. 
 
Is there anyone else who wishes to testify either for or against the legislation?  
Is there anyone in Las Vegas who wishes to testify?  [There was no response.]  
Is there anything else to come before the Committee? 
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Assemblyman Anderson: 
Thank you, Madam Chair, for scheduling both of my bills on this one day.   
I appreciate the indulgence of this Committee in looking at what I consider to be 
two very important pieces of legislation on two entirely different topics. 
 
Chair Koivisto: 
We will bring A.B. 190 back to the Committee and close the hearing.  Thank 
you all for participating this evening.  We are adjourned [at 7:10 p.m.].   
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